### SJSU SAN JOSÉ STATE UNIVERSITY



Investigating the Resilience of Accessibility to Emergency and Lifesaving Facilities under Natural Hazards

Chih-Hao Wang, PhD Na Chen, PhD







CSU TRANSPORTATION CONSORTIUM

ransweb.sjsu.edu/csutc

# Mineta Transportation Institute

Founded in 1991, the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI), an organized research and training unit in partnership with the Lucas College and Graduate School of Business at San José State University (SJSU), increases mobility for all by improving the safety, efficiency, accessibility, and convenience of our nation's transportation system. Through research, education, workforce development, and technology transfer, we help create a connected world. MTI leads the <u>Mineta Consortium for Transportation Mobility</u> (MCTM) funded by the U.S. Department of Transportation and the <u>California State University Transportation Consortium</u> (CSUTC) funded by the State of California through Senate Bill 1. MTI focuses on three primary responsibilities:

#### Research

MTI conducts multi-disciplinary research focused on surface transportation that contributes to effective decision making. Research areas include: active transportation; planning and policy; security and counterterrorism; sustainable transportation and land use; transit and passenger rail; transportation engineering; transportation finance; transportation technology; and workforce and labor. MTI research publications undergo expert peer review to ensure the quality of the research.

#### Education and Workforce

To ensure the efficient movement of people and products, we must prepare a new cohort of transportation professionals who are ready to lead a more diverse, inclusive, and equitable transportation industry. To help achieve this, MTI sponsors a suite of workforce development and education opportunities. The Institute supports educational programs offered by the Lucas Graduate School of Business: a Master of Science in Transportation Management, plus graduate certificates that include High-Speed and Intercity Rail Management and Transportation Security Management. These flexible programs offer live online classes so that working transportation professionals can pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location.

#### Information and Technology Transfer

MTI utilizes a diverse array of dissemination methods and media to ensure research results reach those responsible for managing change. These methods include publication, seminars, workshops, websites, social media, webinars, and other technology transfer mechanisms. Additionally, MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. MTI's extensive collection of transportation-related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

#### Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. MTI's research is funded, partially or entirely, by grants from the California Department of Transportation, the California State University Office of the Chancellor, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, and the U.S. Department of Transportation, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation.

Report 22-21

# Investigating the Resilience of Accessibility to Emergency and Lifesaving Facilities under Natural Hazards

Chih-Hao Wang

Na Chen

May 2022

A publication of the Mineta Transportation Institute Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

### TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1. Report No. 22-21	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog N	0.	
<b>4. Title and Subtitle</b> Investigating the Resilience of Accessibility to Emergency and Lifesaving Facilities under Natural Hazards		<b>5. Report Date</b> May 2022		
		6. Performing Organization Code		
7. Authors Chih-Hao Wang, PhD Na Chen, PhD		8. Performing Organization Report CA-MTI-2126		
9. Performing Organization Name and Address Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219		10. Work Unit No.		
		11. Contract or Grant No. ZSB12017-SJAUX		
<ul> <li>12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address</li> <li>State of California SB1 2017/2018</li> <li>Trustees of the California State University</li> <li>Sponsored Programs Administration</li> <li>401 Golden Shore, 5<sup>th</sup></li> <li>Long Beach, CA 90802</li> </ul>		13. Type of Report and Period Covered		
		14. Sponsoring Agency Code		
15. Supplemental Notes				
16. Abstract Studying accessibility, including the resilience of city transportation networks, is critical to understand how these networks influence individuals' mobility and lives. This study developed an analytical research framework to examine the resilience of accessibility to emergency and lifesaving facilities under the threats of natural hazards such as earthquakes and wildfires. With a cumulative-opportunity approach, the authors measured accessibility by counting emergency and lifesaving facilities (including parks, schools, hospitals, roads, and fire stations) that can be reached by driving at the census tract level in San Fernando Valley, CA. With the calculated accessibility, the authors run simulations to collect data showing what would happen if an area were affected a selected disaster. They then used statistical analysis to identify those areas where accessibility is significantly reduced compared to the original status. A normalized difference accessibility index (NDAI) was further created to suggest plans and strategies to help those vulnerable areas through adding facilities/services or improving transportation infrastructure.				
<b>17. Key Words</b> Natural hazards, Accessibility, Resilience, Hotspot analysis, Statistical comparison	<b>18. Distribution Statement</b> No restrictions.			
19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified	<b>20. Security Classif. (of this page)</b> Unclassified	<b>21. No. of Pages</b> 35	22. Price	

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Copyright © 2022

#### by Mineta Transportation Institute

All rights reserved.

DOI: 10.31979/mti.2022.2126

Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Fax: (408) 924-7565 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu

transweb.sjsu.edu/research/2126

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by the 2021 research grant awarded by the Fresno State Transportation Institute (FSTI) at California State University, Fresno through the California State University Transportation Consortium.

The authors thank Editing Press for editorial services, as well as MTI staff.

# Contents

Acknowledgmentsv
List of Figuresvii
Executive Summary
1. Introduction
2. Methodology & Data
2.1 Natural Hazard Identification
2.2 Pre-Disaster Accessibility Assessment
2.3 Post-Disaster Accessibility Simulations and Statistical Analysis
2.4 Normalized Difference Accessibility Index (NDAI)9
3. Results
3.1 Seismic Hazards
3.2 Wildfire Hazards
4. Summary & Conclusions
Bibliography
About the Authors

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Distribution of Seismic Hazards
Figure 2. Distribution of Wildfire Hazards (2020–2060) 5
Figure 3. Distribution of Wildfire Hazards (2060–2099) 6
Figure 4. Distribution of Selected Impacted Locations (Earthquake)
Figure 5. Distribution of Selected Impacted Locations (Wildfire)
Figure 6. Pre-Disaster NDAI (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations) 10
Figure 7. Pre-Disaster NDAI (Parks, Roads) 10
Figure 8. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Seismic Hazards (Census Tracts) 12
Figure 9. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Seismic Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)
Figure 10. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Seismic Hazards
Figure 11. Accessibility Damage Significance for Seismic Hazards 13
Figure 12. Accessibility Damage Significance for Seismic Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)
Figure 13. Accessibility Damage Significance for Seismic Hazards (Parks, Roads)14
Figure 14. NDAIs for Seismic Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations) 15
Figure 15. NDAIs for Seismic Hazards (Parks, Roads)15
Figure 16. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Wildfire Hazards
Figure 17. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Wildfire Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)
Figure 18. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Wildfire Hazards 17
Figure 19. Accessibility Damage Significance for Wildfire Hazards

Figure 20. Accessibility Damage Significance for Wildfire Hazards	10
(Schools, Hospitals, File Stations)	17
Figure 21. Accessibility Damage Significance for Wildfire Hazards (Parks, Roads)	19
Figure 22. NDAIs for Wildfire Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)	20
Figure 23. NDAIs for Wildfire Hazards (Parks, Roads)	20

## **Executive Summary**

The threats of climate change and associated natural hazard events have been motivating many researchers to work on a variety of topics concerning urban resilience. In planning, accessibility plays a key role in addressing urban resilience issues because it is a dimension that connects land-use allocation and the transportation network, which together determine people's quality of life. Therefore, the main purpose of this study is to develop an analytical research framework to examine the resilience of the accessibility to emergency and lifesaving facilities under natural hazards, which are important in the response phase of the natural hazard management circle.

Using the San Fernando Valley in California as a case study, this framework is constructed with four parts. First, using the cumulative-opportunity approach, we calculate accessibility to parks, schools, hospitals, fire stations, and roads respectively within 5 minutes by driving at the census tract level for the case of pre-disaster. Second, by identifying possible natural hazards, we recalculate accessibility to these facilities recalculated after taking out a part of the transportation network falling in a defined hazard zone for 30 simulations. Third, statistical comparisons are conducted to identify the most affected areas in terms of significant drop in accessibility. Lastly, we create a normalized difference accessibility index (NDAI) to indicate whether facility allocation or the transportation network should be used to improve the resilience of accessibility in these hotspots.

Our main contribution is the simulated hazard impact analysis on the accessibility of a variety of emergency and lifesaving facilities based on natural hazard identification. Moreover, inspired by a widely used index, the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index in remote sensing for detecting healthy vegetation, the NDAI we create in this framework provides decision-makers a solid index to guide more efficient location-based plans and strategies in improving accessibility resilience. With this research framework, we determine the accessibility damage hotspots and their associated statistical significance levels. The NDAI results for the five types of facilities suggest that the outskirt areas and relatively less developed areas in the study region would need more transportation investments such as road networks to improve the accessibility resilience in the face of seismic or wildfire hazards.

### 1. Introduction

Given the long-term impacts of climate change, extreme natural events have been more frequent and severe across the world, such as wildfire, droughts, hurricanes, and sea-level rising. In addition to these climate-change-induced hazards, some other natural hazards, such as earthquakes and landslides, are also threatening human life and property. For example, California is prone to frequent earthquakes, such as the 1994 Northridge Earthquake (Mw 6.7) and the 1971 San Fernando Earthquake (CEA, 2019), and there have been several record-breaking wildfires in recent years (Cal Fire, 2022; Petersen, 1996).

The concern over these threats mentioned above has been increasingly attracting attention to the field of resilience. This concept is generally defined in three ways: (1) as an outcome related to (or being the flip side of) vulnerability (Kasperson & Kasperson, 2013), (2) as the capability for resisting hazards' impact to retain essential functions (ISDR, 2004), and (3) as the ability to recover the original status and to adapt to natural disasters (Carpenter et al., 2001). The understanding of resilience supports the role of urban planning and transportation planning as useful mechanisms for disaster mitigation due to their proactive nature that distinguishes them from the immediate and reactive activities taken during disaster response, recovery, and preparedness in the natural hazard management circle (Godschalk, 2003). Particularly, the role of emergency and lifesaving (E&L) facilities is crucial for the response phase of the natural hazard management circle. For instance, the open space in parks and schools can be used as shelters in a disaster. Therefore, it is important to understand how easily a resident can access an E&L facility subject to travel constrains (e.g., fleeing for refuge and relocating victims). For example, Qiang and Xu (2020) assessed the road network resilience by calculating the reduction of accumulated accessibility over the Winter Storm Harper in Cleveland, OH, in 2019, using crowd-sourced traffic data from Google Maps.

Most existing transportation resilience studies either examine whether the transportation system would remain functional during a disaster or assess how difficult it would be to recover the function after the event. They basically neglect the fact that accessibility (either facility access or service delivery) is also a result of facility allocation. With the widely used method, the cumulative-opportunity approach, accessibility can be measured as the total number of urban opportunities that a resident can reach through a specific transportation mode within a certain travel distance or travel time (Castiglione et al., 2006). This measurement has been broadly applied in accessibility studies for addressing social inequality issues by considering that the transportation network and land-use pattern in a city can influence individuals' physical activity space and therefore their socioeconomic outcomes (Chen & Wang, 2020; Delmelle & Casas, 2012).

Based on the understanding of natural disaster risk as a function of hazard, vulnerability, and exposure (Randolph, 2012), avoidance theory and mitigation theory are typically applied to develop traditional natural hazard mitigation measures (Godschalk, 2003). The former would propose to allocate activities away from natural hazard areas to reduce exposure, while the latter

would suggest structure engineering measures to reduce the vulnerability on site (Randolph, 2012; Schoennagel et al., 2017). The logic of these two theories responds to the role of urban planning in natural hazard management mentioned above. However, urban planning is also playing a role in natural hazard management in terms of the preparedness for emergency response as "soft mitigation" (Lichterman, 2000). For example, "soft mitigation" in urban planning could be reflected as efficient allocation of emergency response facilities. This role seems to be neglected in planning literature.

Therefore, this study aims to develop a research framework to examine the resilience of the accessibility to emergency and lifesaving facilities under natural hazards. California's San Fernando Valley is selected as the study region, considering two natural hazards, earthquakes and wildfires. Using the cumulative-opportunity approach, we firstly calculated accessibility to parks, schools, hospitals, roads, and fire stations respectively during normal conditions. Then, considering the spatial distribution of two natural hazards, accessibility to such facilities was repeatedly recalculated by removing a part of the transportation network within the hazard zone until achieving a large number (30 times in this study) for statistical analysis. The accessibility results before and after the consideration of the two natural hazards were statistically compared to identify where accessibility would drop most significantly. For those hotspots, at last, we create a normalized difference accessibility index (NDAI) to indicate whether efforts for the improvement of accessibility resilience should focus on facility allocation or the transportation network itself. Such a research framework can be utilized by urban planners to find out the most vulnerable locations and the necessary hazard mitigation resources in terms of facility allocation and transportation investments.

# 2. Methodology & Data

The analytical framework elaborated above includes the following four parts.

### 2.1 Natural Hazard Identification

Seismic and wildfire events are the two natural hazards considered for this analysis in the San Fernando Valley. This study refers the concept of "hazard level" as the potential magnitude of a natural hazard with fixed frequency. Therefore, for seismic hazards in the future, we assume that they will follow the historical pattern observed from the past earthquake events. Using the seismic hazard map from the National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency (HSIP Team, 2012; updated in 2017), two seismic hazard levels are identified (see Figure 1): moderate (0.48-0.64g) and high (>0.64g) as multiples of the acceleration due to gravity (g). With the census tract as the unit of analysis in this study, a census tract with a 0.64g seismic hazard is most likely to experience an earthquake with a 0.64g peak ground acceleration (i.e., ground shaking) every 50 years. Figure 1 shows that the whole Valley is mostly located in a severe seismic hazard area (>0.64g).



Figure 1. Distribution of Seismic Hazards

The identification of wildfire hazard is based on the predicted wildfire data by Westerling (2018) for California under the Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 8.5 scenario from 1953 to 2099. This predicted wildfire dataset includes 100 simulations for a year for each cell (6 km by 6 km) across the state of California, in terms of a burned-out percentage of each cell in a simulation.

The concept of a burned-out area means the hectares that a cell is projected to be burned out with one scenario based on a single GCM (downscaled by LOCA), a single RCP, and the set of 10 Land-Use/Land-Cover simulations associated with a single (low, central, high) population trajectory. With this dataset, we identify wildfire hazard in the study region using the following three steps:

- 1) Define three levels of wildfire hazards: a severe case if more than 75% of the area of a cell is burned out in a simulation, a moderate case if more than 50% is burned out, and a mild case if more than 25% is burned out;
- 2) Set up two time periods, 2020–2060 and 2060–2099, with 100 (simulations) × 40 (years) cases for each cell;
- 3) Identify a cell as a wildfire hazard zone during a time period if more than 5% of the 4,000 cases are identified as burned-out cases at any hazard level identified in the first step.

The results of applying these three steps are displayed in Figure 2 and Figure 3, showing that for wildfire hazards, the most hazardous areas in the valley concentrate in the outskirts of the north.



Figure 2. Distribution of Wildfire Hazards (2020-2060)



Figure 3. Distribution of Wildfire Hazards (2060-2099)

### 2.2 Pre-Disaster Accessibility Assessment

As mentioned in the introduction, we use the cumulative-opportunity approach to measure accessibility for its advantages in straightforward construction and interpretation. This approach has been used in the previous three FSTI accessibility projects. After evaluating the overall distribution of road network and emergency and lifesaving (E&L) facilities and considering the needs during a potential natural hazard, this study selects census tract as the unit of analysis and calculates accessibility to parks, schools, hospitals, roads, and fire stations within 5 minutes by driving from a census tract centroid. For point facilities such as schools, hospitals, and fire stations, the accessibility is calculated as:

$$ACC_i^f = \sum_{j=1}^n D_j,\tag{1}$$

where

- $ACC_i^f$ : the number of point facilities accessible by driving for a census tract *i*;
- $D_i$ : a binary value, 1 if the facility *j* falls within the service area and 0 otherwise.

The school (including public elementary, middle, and high schools) and hospital data are collected from LA County GIS Data Portal. The dataset for fire stations is compiled from OpenStreetMap (OSM) and LA Fire Department (LAFD) GIS Unit.

#### MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

For parks, the equation is specified as follows:

$$ACC_i^p = \sum_{j=1}^n A_j,\tag{2}$$

where

- $ACC_i^p$ : the total land area (square miles) of parks accessible by driving for a census tract *i*;
- $A_i$ : the area of park *j* falling inside the 5-min service area by driving.

Similarly, the accessibility to roads is calculated as the total length (miles) of road segments falling inside the 5-min service area by driving. Note that the 5-min driving is using the maximum street speed and can be converted into units, such as travel distance or travel time by walking. The data for parks are assembled from OSM and road data with all links gathered from the most recent US Census Bureau TIGER/Line Shapefiles.

#### 2.3 Post-Disaster Accessibility Simulations and Statistical Analysis

Using the same approach for calculating accessibility as Section 2.1, the post-disaster accessibility calculation is conducted for a pseudo-extreme natural event (a seismic or wildfire event scenario based on both hazard identification and urban pattern) by removing a road segment falling in the corresponding identified hazard zone. For both hazards, thirty locations are randomly selected for each type of threat scenario (see Figure 4 and Figure 5) based on the spatial distribution of hazard zones and population density to obtain a large sample for further statistical analysis, using the adaptive sampling approach, which is particularly appropriate when the sampled characteristic is rare and spatially clustered (Bolstad, 2016). For each selected location, it is assumed that the roads within a quarter mile will not be working during a pseudo-event and therefore corresponding facilities within that buffer will not be reachable either. Under this circumstance, accessibility to each type of facility is recalculated for every location. In the end, 30 accessibility simulations for each hazard are generated for statistical analysis. For wildfire hazards, the method of accessibility simulations is the same for the two time periods: note that the identified wildfire hazard cases in each of the two periods only marginally appear in the north of the study region.



Figure 4. Distribution of Selected Impacted Locations (Earthquake)

Figure 5. Distribution of Selected Impacted Locations (Wildfire)



The simulated results will produce 30 post-disaster accessibility to a type of facility for each census tract. Then, the change of accessibility in percentage before and after an extreme natural event is calculated for each type of facility. Therefore, hotspots will be identified for those locations with a highly decreased percentage. To reach statistical conclusions on these differences, we conduct a t-

test to examine whether the simulated results are different from the original accessibility level using a 5% significance level, by assuming that the 30 simulated values of each census tract are distributed with a normal pattern. With these test results, urban planners would be able to focus on less resilient locations facing a significant accessibility drop.

### 2.4 Normalized Difference Accessibility Index (NDAI)

Inspired by the widely used index in remote sensing for detecting healthy vegetation from other special features in a satellite image (Bolstad, 2016), we create a new index, the Normalized Difference Accessibility Index (NDAI), to examine whether transportation or facility investment is more needed for less-resilient locations in the adaption to the natural hazards. The equation for calculating this index is specified as:

$$NDAI_{ki} = ACC_{ki} - RA_i, (3)$$

where

- $ACC_{ki}$ : standardized number/length/area of a specific facility k reachable within 5 min by driving from census tract *i*;
- $RA_i$ : standardized number of census tracts reachable from that census tract *i* under the same travel constraints.

The values of  $ACC_{ki}$  and  $RA_i$  are the standardized mean of the 30 simulated accessibility results for each hazard and each facility. Considering that the accessibility to a facility is a result of transportation network and facility allocation, this index is used to identify which of these two factors plays a more important role in an existing accessibility outcome. Therefore, to improve the resilience of accessibility, a positive NDAI would suggest the need of more transportation investments, while a negative NDAI would suggest more facilities investments needed.

As a reference to compare with the NDAI results after the extreme hazard events, the NDAI values of the five types of facilities are presented for the pre-disaster accessibility in Figure 6 and Figure 7. Also, these pre-disaster results can be used by decision-makers to assist in designing and implementing plans and strategies for prioritizing facilities or transportation network investments during normal situations.



#### Figure 6. Pre-Disaster NDAI (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)





## 3. Results

### 3.1 Seismic Hazards

For seismic hazard, Figures 8 to 10 present the locations (named "accessibility damage hotspots") having a higher decrease in accessibility to nearby census tracts and the five types of facilities caused by the damaged roads. The damage hotspots for accessible census tracts concentrate in the central area (Van Nuys) and southeast protrusion (Glendale) and some scattered spots in the outskirt areas, basically following the sampling pattern as a result of the attenuating impacts with distance from each identified seismic hazard zone. In other words, the accessibility damage decreases as the distance from the identified seismic hazard increases. Regarding facilities, Van Nuys and Glendale became the clustering sites for damage sites of accessibility to schools, hospitals, and roads.

The significance levels of these changes in accessibility before and after a severe pseudo-earthquake, called "accessibility damage significance" for short, are illustrated in Figures 11 to 13. Different from what we find above, only the outskirt areas of the study region indicate significant accessibility damage for parks and fire stations. The uncertainty of seismic hazards is accounted for with the statistical analysis, and the results show the locations most affected in terms of accessibility damage in a severe earthquake.

Under seismic hazards, Figure 14 and Figure 15 show the results of NDAIs for the five types of facilities. For the analysis of NDAIs, we divide schools, hospitals, and roads as one group and parks and fire stations as the other group based on the accessibility change results as presented above. For schools and roads, the negative NDAIs in the central area imply the need for more facilities, while the positive NDAIs are found in the southeast protrusion and suggest the need for more transportation investments. For hospitals, people living in the central area need more transportation and facility improvements. For the second group, in the case of parks, the damage hotspots and statistical analysis results show an increasing need for transportation facilities with increasing distance from the central area. In respect of fire stations, the relatively less developed areas clearly need more transportation investments.

# Figure 8. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Seismic Hazards (Census Tracts)



Figure 9. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Seismic Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)



MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

# Figure 10. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Seismic Hazards (Parks, Roads)



Figure 11. Accessibility Damage Significance for Seismic Hazards (Census Tracts)



Figure 12. Accessibility Damage Significance for Seismic Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)









#### Figure 14. NDAIs for Seismic Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)

Figure 15. NDAIs for Seismic Hazards (Parks, Roads)



### 3.2 Wildfire Hazards

For wildfire hazards, the results are displayed in Figures 16 to 18. Steep accessibility changes are named "accessibility damage hotspots." Following the pattern of wildfire hazard sampling (see Figure 5), the distribution of accessibility damage hotspots for nearby census tracts, schools, hospitals, and roads clusters in the northern hills. For parks and fire stations, their spatial patterns in terms of the accessibility damage hotspots are similar to the case of seismic hazards.

The results of accessibility damage significance in Figures 19 to 21 show that the eastern and western ends of the study region suffer from significant accessibility damage. No significant accessibility damage is found for schools, hospitals, and roads. Outskirt areas such as Van Nuys which are far from most parks are expected to face significant damage in accessibility to parks. Glendale has a similar issue, but in this case it is due to limited and easily disconnected routes to the nearby green space. Urban planners need to pay special attention to those areas with significant accessibility damage to fire stations, given their role in extinguishing a fire for residential houses when wildfire threats extend into the Valley.

As shown in Figure 22 and Figure 23, the spatial pattern of the calculated NDAIs for each type of facility is quite similar to the corresponding one for seismic hazards (Figure 7). For example, transportation investments (e.g., preserving the connection of transportation network) are needed for most census tracts to improve their accessibility to schools, hospitals, and roads. Overall, the results of the NDAIs suggest that the outskirt and other relatively lower-developed areas need more transportation investments.





# Figure 17. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Wildfire Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)



Figure 18. Accessibility Damage Hotspots for Wildfire Hazards (Parks, Roads)



### Figure 19. Accessibility Damage Significance for Wildfire Hazards (Census Tracts)



### Figure 20. Accessibility Damage Significance for Wildfire Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)



# Figure 21. Accessibility Damage Significance for Wildfire Hazards (Parks, Roads)





Figure 22. NDAIs for Wildfire Hazards (Schools, Hospitals, Fire Stations)

Figure 23. NDAIs for Wildfire Hazards (Parks, Roads)



# 4. Summary & Conclusions

Increasingly frequent and severe natural events have been continuously threatening residents' life and property. These hazards include wildfire, droughts, hurricanes, and sea-level rises, as well as earthquakes and landslides. Therefore, it is important for decision-makers and urban planners to understand these events' potential impacts on people's daily lives to prepare for the challenges resulting from these natural hazards. One of the key potential impacts is related to people's accessibility to emergency and lifesaving (E&L) facilities, which play an important role in the response phase of the natural hazard management circle but have mostly been ignored in the past resilience studies.

This study attempts to fill this gap with a focus on the development of an analytical research framework to investigate the resilience of the accessibility to emergency and lifesaving facilities under natural hazards. San Fernando Valley in California was selected as the study region with two major natural hazards (earthquake and wildfire) and a semi--closed transportation system. This research framework includes the following four major steps:

- First, using the cumulative-opportunity approach, we calculated accessibility to parks, schools, hospitals, fire stations, and roads respectively within 5 minutes by driving at the census tract level for the case of pre-disaster.
- Second, by considering the potential impact of natural hazards, we recalculated accessibility to these facilities after taking out a part of the transportation network falling in a hazard zone for 30 iterations.
- Third, statistical comparisons were conducted to identify the most affected areas facing a significant drop in accessibility.
- Lastly, we created a normalized difference accessibility index (NDAI) to indicate whether facility allocation or transportation network should be used to improve the resilience of accessibility in these hotspots.

The key findings from this analytical framework are summarized as follows.

- There are spatial variations in the accessibility damage hotspots based on the types of "opportunities." For example, under both seismic and wildfire hazards, the accessibility to schools, hospitals, and roads is mostly affected around Van Nuys and Glendale, while the impact on park and fire station accessibility is relatively more evenly distributed.
- The statistical comparisons point out the locations with significant accessibility damages to different types of facilities. Under seismic hazards, significant results in accessibility to nearby census tracts are only found in the outskirt areas, and fewer locations indicate significant accessibility damage for schools, hospitals, and roads. For the case of wildfire

hazards, special attention should be paid to the locations with significant accessibility damage to parks and fire stations, such as Van Nuys and Glendale.

• The calculated NDAIs for the five types of facilities suggest that the outskirt areas and relatively less developed areas in the study region would need more transportation investments such as an enhanced road network to improve the accessibility resilience, no matter whether the concern is seismic or wildfire hazards.

With this analytical research framework, decision-makers and urban planners will be able to identify the most vulnerable locations by considering different types of natural hazards and different types of emergency and lifesaving facilities. Therefore, corresponding facilities and transportation investments can be recommended for improving accessibility resilience efficiently for areas that need them the most.

## Bibliography

- Bolstad, P. (2016). GIS fundamentals: A first text on geographic information systems. Eider (PressMinnesota).
- Cal Fire. (2022). *Top 20 Largest California Wildfires* California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection. Retrieved 1/10/2022 from https://www.fire.ca.gov/media/4jandlhh/top20\_acres.pdf
- Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Anderies, J. M., & Abel, N. (2001). From metaphor to measurement: resilience of what to what? *Ecosystems*, 4(8), 765-781.
- Castiglione, J., Hiatt, R., Chang, T., & Charlton, B. (2006). Application of travel demand microsimulation model for equity analysis. *Transportation Research Record*, 1977(1), 35-42.
- CEA. (2019). California Earthquake Authority. Retrieved 12/10/2021 from https://www.earthquakeauthority.com/
- Chen, N., & Wang, C.-H. (2020). Does green transportation promote accessibility for equity in medium-size U.S. cites? *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 84, 102365. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102365
- Delmelle, E. C., & Casas, I. (2012). Evaluating the spatial equity of bus rapid transit-based accessibility patterns in a developing country: The case of Cali, Colombia. *Transport Policy*, 20, 36-46. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2011.12.001
- Godschalk, D. R. (2003). Urban hazard mitigation: creating resilient cities. *Natural hazards review*, 4(3), 136-143.
- HSIP Team. (2012; updated in 2017). Seismic Ground Motion Hazards with 2 Percent Probability [Feature Layer].10/01/2020 https://hifldgeoplatform.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/seismic-ground-motion-hazards-with-2percent-probability?geometry=-2.109%2C-52.390%2C2.109%2C85.414

ISDR. (2004). Living with risk: a global review of disaster reduction initiatives. U. N. Publications.

Kasperson, J. X., & Kasperson, R. E. (2013). Global environmental risk. Routledge.

- Lichterman, J. D. (2000). A "community as resource" strategy for disaster response. *Public Health Rep*, 115(2-3), 262-265. https://doi.org/10.1093/phr/115.2.262
- Petersen, M. D. (1996). *Probabilistic seismic hazard assessment for the state of California* (Vol. 96). California Department of Conservation Division of Mines and Geology.

- Qiang, Y., & Xu, J. (2020). Empirical assessment of road network resilience in natural hazards using crowdsourced traffic data. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, 34(12), 2434-2450. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2019.1694681
- Randolph, J. (2012). Creating the climate change resilient community. MIT Press Cambridge, MA.
- Schoennagel, T., Balch, J. K., Brenkert-Smith, H., Dennison, P. E., Harvey, B. J., Krawchuk, M. A., Mietkiewicz, N., Morgan, P., Moritz, M. A., & Rasker, R. (2017). Adapt to more wildfire in western North American forests as climate changes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(18), 4582-4590.
- Westerling, A. L. (2018). Wildfire Simulations for California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment: Projecting Changes in Extreme Wildfire Events with a Warming Climate: a Report for California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment. California Energy Commission Sacramento, CA.

## About the Authors

#### Chih-Hao Wang, PhD

Dr. Chih-Hao Wang is an Associate Professor of the Department of Geography and City & Regional Planning at California State University, Fresno, where he has taught since 2014. He received his PhD (2013) and Master's (2010) degrees in City and Regional Planning from The Ohio State University. Dr. Wang's research focuses on environmental planning from the perspective of natural hazard mitigation. His research interests also include the application of spatial statistics to the analysis of spatial or social interactions in the earthquake process, as well as water management, transportation planning, and community development. His research has been published in journals in environmental planning, transportation, and geography.

#### Na Chen, PhD

Dr. Na Chen is an Associate Professor in the School of Government at the Sun Yat-sen University in Guangzhou, China. She received her BA in Public Policy (2008) from Sun Yat-sen University, her MA in Community Planning and Public Administration (2011) from Auburn University, AL, and her PhD in City and Regional Planning (2016) from The Ohio State University. She then worked as a postdoctoral scholar in the Department of Technology Management at the University of California, Santa Cruz. Her research interests include transportation planning, activity-based travel behavior modeling, accessibility, activity space, transportation equity, land-use modeling, spatial econometrics, and Geographic Information System applications for urban planning. Based on her expertise in her areas of interest, Dr. Chen has published many papers in peer-reviewed journals and presented at international conferences.

### MTI FOUNDER

### Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

### MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES=

Founder, Honorable Norman Mineta\* Secretary (ret.), US Department of Transportation

Chair, Will Kempton Retired Transportation Executive

Vice Chair, Jeff Morales Managing Principal InfraStrategies, LLC

Executive Director, Karen Philbrick, PhD\* Mineta Transportation InstituteSan José State University

Winsome Bowen Transportation Executive

David Castagnetti Co-Founder Mehlman Castagnetti Rosen & Thomas

Maria Cino Vice President, America & U.S. Government Relations Hewlett-Packard Enterprise

Grace Crunican\*\* Owner Crunican LLC

Donna DeMartino Managing Director Los Angeles-San Diego-San Luis Obispo Rail Corridor Agency John Flaherty Senior Fellow Silicon Valley American Leadership Forum

Stephen J. Gardner \* President & CEO Amtrak

Rose Guilbault Board Member Peninsula Corridor Joint Power Board

Kyle Holland Senior Director, Special Projects, TAP Technologies, Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority (LA Metro)

Ian Jefferies\* President & CEO Association of American Railroads

Diane Woodend Jones Principal & Chair of Board Lea & Elliott, Inc.

Steven Keck\* Acting Director California Department of Transportation (Caltrans)

Therese McMillan Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)

Abbas Mohaddes President & COO Econolite Group Inc.

Stephen Morrissey Vice President – Regulatory and Policy United Airlines Dan Moshavi, PhD\* Dean Lucas College and GraduateSchool of Business, San José State University

Toks Omishakin\* Secretary California State Transportation Agency (CALSTA)

Takayoshi Oshima Chairman & CEO Allied Telesis, Inc.

Greg Regan President Transportation Trades Department, AFL-CIO

Paul Skoutelas\* President & CEO American Public Transportation Association (APTA)

Kimberly Slaughter CEO Systra USA

Beverley Swaim-Staley President Union Station Redevelopment Corporation

Jim Tymon\* Executive Director American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

\* = Ex-Officio \*\* = Past Chair, Board of Trustees

### Directors

Karen Philbrick, PhD Executive Director

Hilary Nixon, PhD Deputy Executive Director

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, PhD Education Director National Transportation Finance Center Director

Brian Michael Jenkins National Transportation Security Center Director

